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Washington, DC 
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of the Rules of the House of Representatives, we herewith transmit 
the attached report, ‘‘In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Rep-
resentative Phil Gingrey.’’ 
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K. MICHAEL CONAWAY, 

Chairman. 
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House Calendar No. 152 
113TH CONGRESS REPORT " ! HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 2d Session 113–664 

IN THE MATTER OF ALLEGATIONS RELATING TO 
REPRESENTATIVE PHIL GINGREY 

DECEMBER 11, 2014.—Referred to the House Calendar and ordered to be printed 

Mr. CONAWAY, from the Committee on Ethics, 
submitted the following 

R E P O R T 

In accordance with House rule XI, clauses 3(a)(2) and 3(b), the 
Committee on Ethics (Committee) hereby submits the following Re-
port to the House of Representatives: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

In November 2011, press reports alleged that Representative 
Gingrey received stock warrants from two Georgia community 
banks—Bank of Ellijay and Westside Bank—as compensation for 
serving on their boards of directors, and that he advocated legisla-
tion that would benefit the banks. In the Spring of 2012, the Chair-
man and Ranking Member of the Committee for the 112th Con-
gress authorized Committee staff to investigate these and related 
allegations pursuant to Committee Rule 18(a). Separately, the Of-
fice of Congressional Ethics (OCE) initiated a review of the com-
pensation-related allegation, and ultimately recommended that it 
be dismissed. On August 2, 2012, the Committee voted unani-
mously to close its review of the compensation allegation, while 
continuing its review of allegations related to Representative 
Gingrey’s advocacy on behalf of the banks. 

In the course of its review, the Committee determined that Rep-
resentative Gingrey invested $250,000 in Bank of Ellijay, and sub-
sequently took official actions to assist the bank. The Committee 
found no evidence that Representative Gingrey’s actions resulted in 
any financial benefit to him, or were taken with that intent. How-
ever, the Committee concluded that Representative Gingrey’s ef-
forts to assist Bank of Ellijay violated two provisions of the Code 
of Ethics for Government Service (Code of Ethics), which prohibit 
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1 Code of Ethics for Government Service ¶ 5; House Ethics Manual at 27 (2008) (hereinafter 
Ethics Manual). 

2 2 U.S.C. § 1301(a). 
3 Ethics Manual at 310 (citing 2 U.S.C. § 57b and quoting Comm. on House Admin., U.S. 

House of Representatives, Members’ Congressional Handbook, Regulations Governing the Mem-
bers’ Representational Allowance (2001) (emphasis in original)). 

dispensing special favors to anyone, ‘‘whether for remuneration or 
not,’’ and the acceptance of benefits that could be seen as influ-
encing a Member’s official duties. Representative Gingrey’s actions 
also did not reflect creditably on the House or comport with the 
spirit of the House Rules regarding conflicts of interest. 

For his violations of House rules, law, regulations, or other 
standards of conduct, the Committee has issued a public letter of 
reproval to Representative Gingrey. 

II. HOUSE RULES, LAWS, REGULATIONS, AND OTHER 
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

The Code of Ethics, section 5, provides that any person in gov-
ernment service should ‘‘never discriminate unfairly by the dis-
pensing of special favors or privileges to anyone, whether for remu-
neration or not; and never accept, for himself or his family, favors 
or benefits under circumstances which might be construed by rea-
sonable persons as influencing the performance of his govern-
mental duties.’’ The House Ethics Manual notes that the Com-
mittee ‘‘has cautioned all Members ‘to avoid situations in which 
even an inference might be drawn suggesting improper action.’ ’’ 1 

House rule XXIII, clause 3, states that a Member ‘‘may not re-
ceive compensation and may not permit compensation to accrue to 
the beneficial interest of such individual from any source, the re-
ceipt of which would occur by virtue of influence improperly ex-
erted from the position of such individual in Congress.’’ 

Federal law provides that ‘‘appropriations shall be applied only 
to the objects for which the appropriations were made except as 
otherwise provided by law.’’ 2 The Committee and the Committee 
on House Administration have noted that funds appropriated for 
the Members’ Representational Allowance, which are used for staff 
salaries, among other things, are meant ‘‘to support the conduct of 
the official and representational duties of a Member . . . with re-
spect to the district from which the Member is elected.’’ 3 

Finally, House rule XXIII, clauses 1 and 2, provide that a Mem-
ber ‘‘shall behave at all times in a manner that shall reflect 
creditably on the House,’’ and ‘‘shall adhere to the spirit and the 
letter of the Rules of the House. . . .’’ 

III. BACKGROUND 

The Committee opened its investigation regarding Representa-
tive Gingrey in the Spring of 2012. Separately, OCE initiated a re-
view of the allegation that the bank stock warrants Representative 
Gingrey obtained were impermissible compensation for his service 
as a board member and referred that allegation to the Committee 
with a recommendation that it be dismissed. Following its inde-
pendent review of the matter, the Committee did dismiss that alle-
gation, but continued its investigation of other issues. The Commit-
tee’s investigation took an extended amount of time, in part be-
cause Representative Gingrey’s factual explanations changed sub-
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4 Letter from S. Passantino to D. Schwager, July 6, 2012, at 15. 
5 Id. 
6 Id. 
7 Letter from S. Passantino to P. McMullen, Feb. 20, 2013. 
8 The Chairman and Ranking Member participated in the interview with Representative 

Gingrey. 
9 Letter from S. Passantino to P. McMullen, Feb. 12, 2014. 
10 Letter from S. Passantino to P. McMullen, Mar. 5, 2014. 

stantially during the course of the investigation, requiring the 
Committee to obtain clarifications and further information from 
Representative Gingrey and other witnesses. 

On June 8, 2012, the then-Chairman and Ranking Member of the 
Committee sent a Request for Information (RFI) to Representative 
Gingrey. Representative Gingrey responded to the RFI, through 
counsel, on July 6, 2012, and provided both a narrative submission 
and relevant documents (July 6, 2012 Submission). The submis-
sion, which Representative Gingrey signed and attested to, ref-
erenced two official actions by Representative Gingrey that related 
to community banks, neither of which had been mentioned in press 
reports at the time. First, on November 14, 2008, Representative 
Gingrey co-signed a letter to then-Treasury Secretary Henry 
Paulson urging him to provide community banks with access to 
funds from the Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP).4 Second, 
Representative Gingrey set up ‘‘an office meeting with Treasury 
Department officials . . . for two of his constituents in January 
2009.’’ 5 The submission stated that ‘‘[t]his meeting allowed these 
constituents and the Congressman to once again alert Treasury of-
ficials to the need for equal TARP access for both large and small 
financial institutions.’’ 6 On February 6, 2013, the Committee re-
quested a clarification of this portion of Representative Gingrey’s 
submission. Representative Gingrey’s counsel provided a response, 
with additional documents, on February 20, 2013 (February 20, 
2013 Submission).7 

After reviewing Representative Gingrey’s submissions and docu-
ments, Committee staff conducted eleven interviews, including 
interviews of Representative Gingrey, his Chief of Staff, and per-
sons who arranged and attended the Treasury Department meet-
ing.8 Committee staff also received and reviewed documents from 
the Treasury Department regarding the meeting. 

On January 14, 2014, the Committee asked Representative 
Gingrey’s counsel for a legal analysis of Representative Gingrey’s 
actions with respect to setting up the Bank of Ellijay meetings. 
Representative Gingrey’s counsel provided that analysis on Feb-
ruary 12, 2014 (February 12, 2014 Submission).9 On February 20, 
2014, the Committee asked Representative Gingrey’s counsel to 
clarify a statement in the February 12 submission related to the 
constituent status of Bank of Ellijay and its officers. Representative 
Gingrey’s counsel provided a response on March 5, 2014 (March 5, 
2014 Submission).10 

Before the Committee decided how to resolve this matter, Rep-
resentative Gingrey was invited to address the full Committee, and 
did so. The Committee carefully considered all of Representative 
Gingrey’s written submissions and oral remarks in resolving the 
matter. 
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11 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
12 Representative Gingrey also joined the board of directors of Westside Bank, and invested 

$250,000 in that bank. However, Westside Bank never submitted an application for TARP fund-
ing, and the evidence did not reveal any official actions by Representative Gingrey that could 
have benefitted Westside Bank. Accordingly, the Committee did not find that Representative 
Gingrey acted improperly with respect to Westside Bank. 

13 Bank of Ellijay ultimately failed in September 2010, and was placed into receivership. As 
a result, Representative Gingrey lost his entire investment in the bank. 

14 Treasury Department staff have stated that they could not locate Bank of Ellijay’s TARP 
application. 

15 Representative Gingrey provided the Committee with a letter from Representatives 
Gingrey, Greg Walden, John Shimkus, and Joe Wilson, to then-Secretary of the Treasury Henry 
Paulson, dated November 14, 2008. However, the Treasury Department provided the Committee 
with a version of the letter that is identical in substance but is signed only by Representatives 
Gingrey, Walden, and Shimkus. Treasury Department documents indicate that the letter was 
faxed from Representative Gingrey’s office, and Representative Gingrey’s signature appears first 
on the letter. 

16 The letter argued against any approach that ‘‘places smaller companies at a competitive dis-
advantage for taxpayer funds originally intended to address the systemic lack of available cred-
it.’’ Id. 

17 Id. 

IV. FINDINGS 

A. EFFORTS TO ASSIST COMMUNITY BANKS 

In or around 2006, a bank holding company was established, 
with the goal of opening five community banks in Georgia. Two or-
ganizers of the holding company, who lived in Representative 
Gingrey’s district, asked him to join the board of directors of one 
of the banks. Representative Gingrey told the Committee that he 
had hoped to be selected for the board of Bank of Canton, which 
was near his congressional district. Instead, he was asked to join 
the board of Bank of Ellijay, which was located further from his 
district than Canton, in an area where he ‘‘knew a few people’’ but 
‘‘didn’t know nearly as many people.’’ 11 At the same time that Rep-
resentative Gingrey joined the bank’s board, he was allowed to pur-
chase $250,000 in warrants of the bank’s stock, which entitled him 
to purchase stock in Bank of Ellijay at a defined strike price.12 
Representative Gingrey borrowed $200,000 from another Georgia 
bank in order to make this investment. 

Bank of Ellijay made substantial loans to real estate developers 
in Georgia, and as the housing market declined in 2007 and 2008, 
the bank’s financial condition deteriorated.13 In mid or late 2008, 
Bank of Ellijay submitted an application with the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) for TARP funding. Former officers of 
Bank of Ellijay told Committee staff that FDIC forwarded the 
bank’s TARP application to the Treasury Department.14 

On November 14, 2008, Representative Gingrey and two other 
Members of Congress signed a letter to then-Secretary of the 
Treasury Paulson.15 The letter generally advocated for the dis-
bursement of TARP funds to all banks on equal terms, rather than 
limiting such funds to large financial institutions.16 The letter thus 
asserted that ‘‘[c]ommunity financial institutions, including those 
that are privately held . . . should have the same level of access 
to the [TARP] program as larger institutions . . .’’ 17 Representa-
tive Gingrey’s Chief of Staff told Committee staff that he drafted 
the letter at Representative Gingrey’s request, but he did not know 
what motivated Representative Gingrey to send it. Representative 
Gingrey stated that he could not recall whether his staff drafted 
the letter, or why it was sent. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
of Bank of Ellijay told Committee staff that he told Representative 

VerDate Sep 11 2014 07:34 Dec 24, 2014 Jkt 049006 PO 00000 Frm 00010 Fmt 6659 Sfmt 6602 E:\HR\OC\HR664.XXX HR664em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
S

K
67

Q
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 H
E

A
R

IN
G



5 

18 The language of the CFO’s request is notably similar to the text of Representative Gingrey’s 
letter to then-Treasury Secretary Paulson. Further, while the CFO’s email discusses community 
banks generally, the reference to the ability to ‘‘continue day-to-day business’’ appears to relate 
specifically to Bank of Ellijay, as the CFO was not associated with any other community bank 
at the time. The Chairman of Bank of Ellijay, in his second (but not first) interview with Com-
mittee staff, did recall discussing the need for TARP funding for community banks generally 
with the head of a Georgia community banking association around the time of the Treasury De-
partment meeting. However, he recalled that only Bank of Ellijay’s TARP application was dis-
cussed in the congressional and Treasury Department meetings. 

19 The three Bank of Ellijay representatives who attended the congressional and Treasury De-
partment meetings—the Chairman, CFO, and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)—provided their 
current and past home addresses to Committee staff. The Chairman and CFO of Bank of Ellijay 
do not currently live in Representative Gingrey’s district and have never lived in the district. 
In a submission to the Committee, Representative Gingrey’s counsel stated that the CEO of 
Bank of Ellijay ‘‘is believed by the Congressman to be living in Canton but to have previously 
lived in his Eleventh Congressional District (Marietta, Georgia). The Congressman is not certain 
whether he moved prior to, or after, participating in relevant board discussions with Congress-
man Gingrey.’’ Mar. 5 Submission at 2. However, based on the testimony of the CEO and Rep-
resentative Gingrey, it is clear the CEO became a resident of Representative Gingrey’s district 
after the 2009 Treasury Department meeting, as a result of redistricting. 

Gingrey, during a Bank of Ellijay board meeting in October or No-
vember 2008, that the TARP program was not helping community 
banks. 

On Friday, January 9, 2009, Bank of Ellijay’s CFO sent Rep-
resentative Gingrey an email, copying Representative Gingrey’s of-
fice manager, saying that the bank’s Chairman asked the CFO to 
request ‘‘a meeting with members of Congress regarding Commu-
nity Banks and the TARP program.’’ He stated: 

As a non-publicly traded Community Bank, we are at a 
disadvantage with the publicly traded institutions that 
have received the TARP Capital Purchase Program funds. 
Our correspondent banks are making it difficult for us to 
continue to conduct day-to-day business. If the non-pub-
licly traded Community Banks were given the TARP Cap-
ital Purchase Program funds, you would see the credit 
begin to flow. As it currently stands, the larger institutions 
are hoarding the capital and not allowing it to flow 
through the system. The Community Banks are the ones 
that will help solve the mortgage crisis by working with 
the borrowers. Let me know when you would like to dis-
cuss this further. I urge Congress to listen to the Commu-
nity Bankers, not lobbyists, which have to deal with the 
legislation, regulation, and customers on a daily basis. 
Anyone that feels that we are unregulated or have had our 
regulatory burden eased during the last administration 
has not worked in a Bank.18 

The CFO and Chairman both told Committee staff that they never 
lived in Representative Gingrey’s congressional district.19 Despite 
the fact that neither the CFO, Chairman, or the bank itself were 
constituents of Representative Gingrey, Representative Gingrey’s 
office manager replied to the CFO’s email, copying the Chief of 
Staff, on Monday, January 12, 2009. The office manager informed 
the CFO that ‘‘we are working on this request’’ and asked when 
Bank of Ellijay representatives could come to Washington, D.C. 

Representative Gingrey and his Chief of Staff provided different 
accounts of their communications after the CFO’s email was re-
ceived. The Chief of Staff stated that he discussed the CFO’s re-
quest with Representative Gingrey soon after the request was 
made. The Chief of Staff stated that Representative Gingrey di-
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20 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey’s Chief of Staff. 
21 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
22 Id. 
23 Representative Gingrey stated: ‘‘That [Treasury Department] meeting was set up by my 

chief of staff, and I was—I was not aware of that at the time, and I don’t know any other details 
about it. I don’t know if they specifically asked him to set up a meeting both with the Financial 
Services Committee and the Department of Treasury. But I was not aware of that meeting at 
all until after the fact.’’ Id. 

24 July 6, 2012, Submission at 15. 
25 Bank of Ellijay’s Chairman stated this in October 2012. Committee staff interviewed him 

a second time in January 2014, at which time he said he could not recall whether he ever dis-
cussed the Treasury Department meeting with Representative Gingrey. He did recall discussing 
the meeting at Bank of Ellijay board meetings, both before and after the trip to Washington, 
D.C. Thus, if Representative Gingrey attended those board meetings, he would have learned of 
the Treasury Department meeting. However, neither Representative Gingrey nor the Bank of 
Ellijay representatives interviewed in this matter could provide the Committee with copies of 
the bank’s board minutes. 

rected him to schedule meetings for the Bank of Ellijay representa-
tives with House Members and staff, and told him ‘‘I want you to 
set up what you can, but I don’t want you to do anything above 
and beyond what you would do for a normal constituent, you 
know.’’ 20 According to the Chief of Staff, during this conversation, 
the Chief of Staff suggested asking Anna Cabral, who was then the 
Treasurer of the United States and was also the Chief of Staff’s 
mother-in-law, to set up a meeting for the Bank of Ellijay rep-
resentatives with officials from the Treasury Department. In his 
interview with the Committee, Representative Gingrey was asked 
‘‘Do you recall having any discussion with [your Chief of Staff] be-
tween—in that short window of time [between the CFO’s email to 
Representative Gingrey and the Chief of Staff’s email to Ms. 
Cabral] about the request from [the CFO]?’’ He replied ‘‘No, no, I 
don’t.’’ 21 However, later in his interview, Representative Gingrey 
did recall calling the Chief of Staff after he received the CFO’s 
email, and telling him that the Bank of Ellijay representatives 
‘‘would like to come and inquire about the status of their [TARP] 
application.’’ 22 Representative Gingrey did not recall the Chief of 
Staff mentioning the Treasury Department meeting during their 
phone call. In fact, Representative Gingrey stated that he did not 
find out about the Treasury Department meeting until after it had 
occurred.23 

While it is impossible, on the current factual record, to prove 
that Representative Gingrey was aware of the Treasury Depart-
ment meeting before it occurred, the evidence supports the conclu-
sion that he was. To start, Representative Gingrey’s July 6, 2012, 
submission stated that the Treasury Department meeting was ‘‘set 
up by Congressman Gingrey for two of his constituents in January 
2009.’’ 24 Attached to the letter was a signed declaration from Rep-
resentative Gingrey that, ‘‘under penalty of perjury . . . the re-
sponse and factual assertions contained in the attached letter . . . 
are true and accurate.’’ Further, each of the three Bank of Ellijay 
representatives stated that they visited Representative Gingrey’s 
office before the congressional and Treasury Department meetings. 
The bank’s Chairman said that he spoke with Representative 
Gingrey for ten or fifteen minutes, and that they discussed the 
scheduled meeting with the Treasury Department.25 The bank’s 
CEO also recalled meeting with Representative Gingrey before the 
other meetings, and said that ‘‘there were conversations about the 
banking environment in general and what our schedule might be 
that day.’’ It seems likely that the Treasury Department meeting 
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26 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
27 Even if Representative Gingrey was not aware of his staff’s efforts to arrange the Treasury 

Department meeting, using his name, the Committee’s precedents support holding him respon-
sible for his staff’s actions. See, e.g., House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Mat-
ter of Rep. E.G. ‘‘Bud’’ Shuster, H. Rep. 106–979, 106th Cong., Sess. 31 (2000) at 64 (Committee 
found Member misued official resources for campaign purposes, despite finding ‘‘no direct evi-
dence that [the Member] was aware that this [campaign-related] activity was taking place.’’). 
The Committee has not applied this standard in certain instances, such as where the Member 
took appropriate steps to ensure that their staff was acting properly, and in a manner consistent 
with the House Rules. See, e.g., Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Representative Maxine 
Waters, H. Rept. 112–690, 112th Cong. 2d Sess. 7–8 (2012) (hereinafter Waters) (finding Member 
was not responsible for her Chief of Staff’s violation of conflict of interest rules because she told 
her Chief of Staff not to work on certain matters). Here, Representative Gingrey stated that he 
was aware that his Chief of Staff sometimes arranged meetings with executive agencies without 
informing him of the details of those requests. Thus, Representative Gingrey should be held ac-
countable for his staff’s actions in setting up the Bank of Ellijay’s meeting with the Treasury 
Department. See Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Investigation Into Officially Con-
nected Travel of House Members to Attend the Carib News Foundation Multi-National Business 
Conferences in 2007 and 2008, H. Rept. 111–422, 111th Cong. Sess. 2d 192–93 (2010) (‘‘[B]ased 
upon the Standards Committee’s longstanding precedent . . . the Subcommittee finds that it 
would not well serve the House as an institution to allow its Members to escape responsibility 
by delegating authority to their staff to take actions and hide behind their lack of knowledge 
of the facts surrounding those actions.’’) 

would be part of any discussion of the day’s schedule. Finally, it 
seems unlikely that the Chief of Staff, who was promoted to that 
position shortly before the CFO’s request, would arrange a meeting 
with high-ranking Treasury Department officials, on Representa-
tive Gingrey’s behalf and using his name, without notifying Rep-
resentative Gingrey. Representative Gingrey stated that it was ‘‘not 
unusual’’ for his Chief of Staff to arrange meetings for constituents 
on his own initiative, without informing Representative Gingrey, 
but also not ‘‘frequent.’’ 26 In this case, given Representative 
Gingrey’s initial assertion that he set up the Treasury Department 
meeting, his difficulty in recalling other salient facts regarding 
other meetings arranged for the Bank of Ellijay representatives, 
and the Chief of Staff’s clear recollection of discussing the Treasury 
Department meeting with Representative Gingrey, it is likely that 
Representative Gingrey was aware of the scheduled Treasury De-
partment meeting prior to its occurrence, as well as his staff’s gen-
eral efforts to arrange the meeting.27 

Putting aside the question of Representative Gingrey’s knowl-
edge of the Treasury Department meeting, the process of request-
ing and scheduling the meeting was well documented. Less than an 
hour after Bank of Ellijay’s CFO emailed Representative Gingrey, 
the Chief of Staff, who was not copied on the email from the CFO 
to Representative Gingrey, sent an email to Ms. Cabral stating, in 
part: 

My boss is concerned about the priority being given to 
community banks in the TARP process and if the next 
tranche of TARP funds will be steered to community 
banks. Some good constituent community bankers have 
asked us to help them speak in person with some Treasury 
officials next week—and my boss wants to make sure we 
make this happen. Is this possible and do you know who 
we could contact on this? 

Ms. Cabral immediately forwarded the Chief of Staff’s email to a 
number of Treasury Department officials in the Legislative Affairs 
and Policy offices, and asked that officials responsible for admin-
istering the TARP program meet with the Bank of Ellijay rep-
resentatives. While the Chief of Staff’s email did not mention the 
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28 Feb. 20, 2013 Submission at 2. 
29 Id. 
30 The CFO stated that he did not believe Bank of Ellijay’s TARP application was discussed 

during the Treasury Department meeting. However, he also stated that there were multiple con-
versations overlapping at certain points, and that due to his position at the table, he could not 
hear everything said during the meeting. 

31 The talking points stated that Bank of Ellijay ‘‘had 2 customers close accounts since we did 
not have TARP CPP [Capital Purchase Program] funds.’’ The CFO stated that these two ac-
counts were substantial, and would have held at least $250,000 each. Representative Gingrey’s 
first submission to the Committee stated that the Treasury Department meeting ‘‘allowed [Bank 
of Ellijay representatives] to once again alert Treasury officials to the need for equal TARP ac-
cess for both large and small financial institutions.’’ July 6, 2012, Submission at 15. 

32 See Feb. 20, 2013 Submission at 3, 5. 

bank’s TARP application, a Treasury Department official subse-
quently asked Representative Gingrey’s staff if the bank had ap-
plied for TARP funding, and was told that it had. 

In a submission to the Committee, Representative Gingrey stated 
that the Treasury Department meeting ‘‘was arranged for his con-
stituents out of a desire to aid in their search for additional infor-
mation regarding the TARP application process due to the fact that 
Treasury had not responded to their repeated inquiries.’’ 28 Rep-
resentative Gingrey went on to state that the meeting was not ‘‘de-
signed to encourage federal financial support for the Bank, or to 
advocate for policies that would unfairly advantage community 
banks over other financial institutions.’’ 29 With the exception of 
one witness, persons who attended the Treasury Department meet-
ing agreed that the central purpose of the meeting was to deter-
mine the status of Bank of Ellijay’s TARP application and to assess 
whether the bank could qualify for TARP funds at all.30 Other evi-
dence, including ‘‘talking points’’ which the CFO said he discussed 
in the Treasury Department meeting, indicates that the bank’s rep-
resentatives also advocated for disbursing TARP funds to commu-
nity banks generally, and used Bank of Ellijay as an example of 
the problems community banks were encountering because they 
could not access TARP funds.31 

The Bank of Ellijay representatives also met with a Counsel to 
Representative Barney Frank, who was at that time the Chairman 
of the House Financial Services Committee (Financial Services 
Committee). The Counsel’s portfolio included work on that commit-
tee’s issues. The Bank of Ellijay representatives met separately 
with the then-Ranking Member of the Financial Services Com-
mittee, Representative Spencer Bachus. Representative Gingrey 
stated that he personally approached Representative Bachus and 
discussed the CFO’s meeting request with him. According to Rep-
resentative Gingrey, Representative Bachus suggested that the 
Bank of Ellijay representatives meet with him and with someone 
from Representative Frank’s office. Representative Gingrey stated 
that he did not recall whether he informed Representative Bachus 
of his financial interest in Bank of Ellijay, but said he thought that 
was something Representative Bachus would want to know. Rep-
resentative Gingrey’s February 20, 2013, submission to the Com-
mittee stated that he attended the meeting with Representative 
Bachus but not the meeting with the Counsel to Representative 
Frank.32 However, in his Committee interview, Representative 
Gingrey recalled the opposite. 

Representative Gingrey’s submission asserted that the congres-
sional meetings were ‘‘organized for purely informational purposes 
and [were] in no way designed to pressure . . . personal or com-
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33 Id. 
34 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
35 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey’s Chief of Staff. 
36 Letter from S. Passantino to D. Mayer and P. McMullen, Oct. 8, 2014, at 8 (emphasis in 

original). 
37 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
38 Id. 

mittee staff with regard to the Bank’s TARP application.’’ 33 When 
asked during his interview whether the congressional meetings 
were set up to allow the bank’s representatives to ‘‘talk about their 
TARP application’’ or advocate for TARP funding for community 
banks generally, Representative Gingrey said ‘‘I think both.’’ 34 The 
bank representatives also told the Committee that the congres-
sional meetings focused on the need to disperse TARP funds to 
Georgia community banks generally. Consistent with this testi-
mony, Representative Gingrey’s Chief of Staff told the Committee 
that the bank representatives’ discussion with Representative 
Bachus ‘‘centered around’’ ‘‘a philosophical question about or dis-
cussion about, well, should community banks get this [TARP fund-
ing] or should it only go to institutions that are too big to fail.’’ 35 

Representative Gingrey’s counsel has asserted that Representa-
tive Gingrey would not have arranged for Bank of Ellijay’s rep-
resentatives to meet with Members of the Financial Services Com-
mittee and their staff in order to advocate for directing TARP funds 
to community banks because ‘‘it was well known that the House Fi-
nancial Services Committee had no jurisdiction or authority to 
grant [that] request!’’ 36 While it may be true that the Financial 
Services Committee did not administer TARP directly, that com-
mittee drafted the legislation establishing TARP and had oversight 
responsibilities for the Executive agencies implementing the pro-
gram. To cite one example, on December 10, 2008—one month be-
fore the CFO’s meeting request—the Financial Services Committee 
held a hearing on TARP accountability, at which the Treasury offi-
cial responsible for implementing the TARP program appeared and 
testified. 

Further, any assertion that the Financial Services Committee 
had no influence in the disbursement of TARP funds generally is 
belied by the sequence of events here. The CFO and Chairman of 
Bank of Ellijay specifically requested meetings with Members of 
Congress in order to advocate for disbursement of TARP funds to 
community banks, and Representative Gingrey responded by ar-
ranging for the bank’s representatives to meet with Representative 
Frank’s Counsel and Representative Bachus. Indeed, Representa-
tive Gingrey himself stated that, after receiving the meeting re-
quest, he asked his staff ‘‘to find out who would be the right people 
to talk to,’’ and that inquiry resulted in the Financial Services 
Committee meetings.37 Representative Gingrey further explained 
that he asked Representative Bachus ‘‘how do we go about this?’’ 38 
According to Representative Gingrey: 

[H]e said, well, let me look into it. And I’m pretty sure 
it was his recommendation, I don’t think directly to me, 
but maybe he had his chief call my chief or something to 
that effect and said, well, such and such general counsel 
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39 Id. 
40 18(a) testimony of Representative Gingrey’s Chief of Staff. 
41 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
42 Id. 
43 Ethics Manual at 239. 

for the majority will be glad to meet with them. And that 
is subsequently what happened.39 

Likewise, Representative Gingrey’s Chief of Staff told the Com-
mittee staff: 

I think when they, Phil and [Representative Gingrey’s 
office manager] got that email asking to be able to meet 
with Members of Congress that intuitively—I don’t know 
whose call that was, but the people they would meet with 
were on the Financial Services Committee.40 

Presumably, Representative Gingrey would not have arranged 
for the Bank of Ellijay representatives to meet with Financial Serv-
ices Committee representatives if he believed that committee had 
no responsibility or authority with respect to the result Bank of 
Ellijay sought—disbursement of TARP funds to community banks. 
Thus, even if Representative Gingrey’s counsel is correct that the 
Financial Services Committee could not influence the Treasury De-
partment’s decisions regarding disbursement of TARP funds to 
community banks—which is questionable, given that committee’s 
legislative and oversight roles—it is clear that Representative 
Gingrey believed, at the time he arranged the Financial Services 
Committee meetings, that that committee had some say in such de-
cisions. 

Although Representative Gingrey’s submissions asserted that he 
did not violate any law, rule, or other standard of conduct by ar-
ranging meetings for the Bank of Ellijay representatives, he stated 
that he and his Chief of Staff ‘‘generally were aware of a conflict 
of interest’’ with respect to the bank’s request, and of the need to 
be ‘‘very, very careful, above board,’’ in responding to the request.41 
Representative Gingrey explained that he knew ‘‘we could not ad-
vocate on behalf or specifically request that something be granted 
to the Bank of Ellijay,’’ but rather that ‘‘this had to be a generic 
meeting, an information-gathering meeting, and to find out specifi-
cally about the application that they could not seem to get informa-
tion on.’’ 42 

Ultimately, the FDIC advised Bank of Ellijay to withdraw its 
TARP application, and the bank never received any funding from 
TARP. Bank of Ellijay subsequently failed. It was closed by the 
Georgia Department of Banking & Finance in September 2010, and 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation was named Receiver. 

B. FINANCIAL INTEREST IN BANK OF ELLIJAY 

There is no question that Representative Gingrey had a financial 
interest in Bank of Ellijay’s receipt of TARP funds. As the Ethics 
Manual notes in the context of a Member’s advocacy for appropria-
tions earmarks, ‘‘a financial interest would exist in an earmark 
when it would be reasonable to conclude that the provision would 
have a direct and foreseeable effect on the pecuniary interests of 
the Member.’’ 43 The Ethics Manual further explains that ‘‘a Mem-
ber’s direct ownership of stock, even a small number of shares in 

VerDate Sep 11 2014 07:34 Dec 24, 2014 Jkt 049006 PO 00000 Frm 00016 Fmt 6659 Sfmt 6602 E:\HR\OC\HR664.XXX HR664em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
S

K
67

Q
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 H
E

A
R

IN
G



11 

44 Id. 
45 The CFO described the receipt of TARP funding as ‘‘critical to the survival of the bank.’’ 

18(a) Interview of Bank of Ellijay CFO. 
46 Ethics Manual at 314. 
47 Id. 
48 Id. at 237. 
49 Waters at 11. 

a widely held company, likely would constitute a financial interest 
under Rule 23.’’ 44 Here, Representative Gingrey invested $250,000 
in Bank of Ellijay. Bank of Ellijay representatives told Committee 
staff that by the time of the Washington, D.C., meetings, the 
bank’s financial condition was deteriorating. When the bank ulti-
mately failed due to lack of funding, Representative Gingrey lost 
the entire value of his investment. It is reasonable to conclude that 
TARP funding would have strengthened the bank’s financial posi-
tion, and thus Representative Gingrey had a financial interest in 
facilitating the bank’s request for such funds.45 

Given this interest, the Committee considered whether it was 
permissible for Representative Gingrey to send a letter to the then- 
Secretary of the Treasury advocating for allocation of TARP funds 
to community banks, and to arrange meetings between Bank of 
Ellijay representatives and congressional offices and Treasury De-
partment officials. 

C. HOUSE RULE XXIII, CLAUSE 3 

House rule XXIII, clause 3 states that ‘‘a Member . . . may not 
receive compensation and may not permit compensation to accrue 
to the beneficial interest of such individual from any source, the re-
ceipt of which would occur by virtue of influence improperly ex-
erted from the position of such individual in Congress.’’ 

The nature of Members as proxies for their constituents in the 
federal government makes it impossible to require recusal on every 
issue in which a Member has a financial interest. The Committee, 
therefore, views conflicts of interest differently based on the nature 
of the personal financial interest relative to the scope of the action. 
If a Member seeks to act on a matter where he might benefit as 
a member of a large class, such action does not require recusal. 
Thus, ‘‘Members who happen to be farmers may nonetheless rep-
resent their constituents in communicating views on farm policy to 
the Department of Agriculture.’’ 46 By contrast, where a Member’s 
actions would serve his own narrow financial interests, the Mem-
ber should refrain from acting.47 The Committee’s guidance on this 
point advises Members to engage in ‘‘added circumspection’’ any 
time a Member is deciding whether to take official action ‘‘on a 
matter that may affect his or her personal financial interests.’’ 48 

In The Matter of Representative Maxine Waters, the Committee 
reiterated the commonly understood guidance that Members ‘‘can-
not take official actions that would assist a single entity in which 
the Member has a significant interest, particularly when that inter-
est would clearly be affected by the assistance sought.’’ 49 In that 
case, while the Committee believed that the Member had properly 
recused herself from issues related directly to a single bank in 
which she had a financial interest, and had provided clear instruc-
tion to her staff to refrain from working on those issues, her Chief 
of Staff nevertheless persisted in official activity on that bank’s be-
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50 See Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Shelley Berk-
ley, H. Rept. 112–716 2d Sess. 49 (2012) (hereinafter Berkley). 

51 In The Matter of Representative William H. Boner, Representative Boner arranged for a con-
stituent to meet with VA officials about a contract bid the constituent had submitted, and in-
quired with the VA about the status of the bid decision. The Committee itself did not reach any 
final conclusions regarding Representative Boner’s conduct, as Representative Boner resigned 
from the House before the Committee’s investigation was complete. However, in light of the 
unique circumstances of that matter, the Committee voted to release as a Committee print a 
staff report which addressed a number of allegations under review. The staff report concluded 
that there was likely no violation of House rule XXIII, clause 3, because arranging meetings 
for constituents is a basic function of representing one’s district, and because in making a ‘‘sta-
tus check’’ on the bid process, ‘‘Representative Boner did not attempt to influence the VA’s deci-
sion.’’ See Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Staff Report in the Matter of Representative 
William H. Boner, H. Rept. 78–177, 100th Cong. 2d Sess. 28 (1987) (hereinafter Boner). 

52 Comm. on Post Office and Civil Service, Code of Ethics for Government Service, H. Rept. 
1208, 85th Cong. 1st Sess. 1 (1957). 

53 Id. at 2. 

half. Based on his actions, the Committee issued the Chief of Staff 
a public letter of reproval. 

Likewise in The Matter of Representative Shelley Berkley, the 
Committee considered the Member’s inquiries to the Veterans Ad-
ministration (VA), through her staff, regarding the agency’s non- 
payment of medical claims submitted by Representative Berkley’s 
husband’s medical practice, and found the casework ‘‘troublingly 
intertwined with her financial interest,’’ in violation of House rule 
XXIII, clause 3.50 

The facts here bear some relation to Waters and Berkley, yet are 
also distinguishable in important ways. On their face, Representa-
tive Gingrey’s actions are contrary to the guidance in Waters that 
Members are ‘‘prohibited from providing official assistance to enti-
ties in which the Member has a significant financial interest.’’ 
However, in Waters and Berkley, the Member or their staff took 
specific steps to advocate for financial assistance or payments to an 
entity the Member had a financial interest in. There is no evidence 
that Representative Gingrey advocated for Bank of Ellijay in this 
way.51 On the other hand, Bank of Ellijay was not a constituent 
of Representative Gingrey, unlike the entities in Waters and Berk-
ley. Further, to the extent Representative Gingrey advocated for 
the interests of community banks generally, he acted as a member 
of a large class of community bank customers and investors, and 
thus did not violate House rule XXIII, clause 3. 

D. THE CODE OF ETHICS 

The Code of Ethics was adopted by the House to assist federal 
employees, including officeholders, ‘‘in guiding and correcting any 
tendency toward cynicism of the high trust associated with public 
service.’’ 52 It thus reaffirmed standards of conduct ‘‘to which all 
federal employees unquestionably should adhere.’’ 53 In this spirit, 
Section 5 includes two prohibitions that are applicable to House 
Members: (1) ‘‘never discriminate unfairly by the dispensing of spe-
cial favors or privileges to anyone, whether for remuneration or 
not;’’ and (2) ‘‘never accept for himself or his family, favors or bene-
fits under circumstances which might be construed by reasonable 
persons as influencing the performance of his governmental du-
ties.’’ It bears emphasis that, unlike House rule XXIII, clause 3, 
where finding a violation requires proof of a connection between an 
official action and compensation to the acting Member, neither 
clause of Section 5 requires proof of such a connection. 
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54 Letter from then-Chair Stephanie Tubbs Jones and then-Ranking Member Doc Hastings to 
Representative Gingrey, Mar. 21, 2007, at 2. Representative Gingrey sought guidance on wheth-
er his campaign could hire his daughter as a fundraising consultant. The Committee informed 
Representative Gingrey that he could do so, subject to the constraints of House Rule XXIII, 
clause 3, Section 5 of the Code of Ethics, and House Rule XXIII, clauses 1 and 2, and noted 
that ‘‘the Committee has cautioned all Members ‘to avoid situations in which even an inference 
might be drawn suggesting improper action.’ ’’ 

55 Ethics Manual at 299. 
56 Id. at 300. 
57 Berkley at 54–55. 
58 See Statement of the Comm. on Standard of Official Conduct Regarding Complaints Against 

Representative Newt Gingrich, Mar. 8, 1990, at 66 (hereinafter Gingrich). 

While all Members are expected to know and ‘‘unquestionably 
. . . adhere’’ to these provisions, Representative Gingrey had par-
ticular reason to be aware of them: the Committee discussed them 
in a letter to him in March 2007.54 The Committee’s March 2007 
guidance, though in a different factual context, provided Represent-
ative Gingrey with notice regarding the requirements of the Code 
of Ethics and House rule XXIII, clauses 1 and 2. However, the 
record here suggests that Representative Gingrey did not abide by 
those standards of conduct. 

1. Section 5, clause 1 
Official actions of the kind Representative Gingrey took on behalf 

of Bank of Ellijay would typically be described as ‘‘casework’’ or 
‘‘constituent service,’’ and would be perfectly permissible, when 
done on behalf of most constituents. Indeed, this Committee recog-
nizes that ‘‘a[n] important aspect of a House Member’s representa-
tive function is to act as a ‘go-between’ or conduit between the 
Member’s constituents and administrative agencies of the federal 
government.’’ 55 However, ‘‘[i]n taking any such action, a Member 
or staff person must observe certain ethical principles,’’ 56 including 
the prohibition in Section 5, clause 1, on ‘‘discriminat[ing] unfairly 
by the dispensing of special favors or privileges to anyone, whether 
for remuneration or not.’’ 

The Committee has applied these principles in two matters. In 
Berkley, the Committee found that Representative Berkley did not 
dispense special favors to her husband by assisting him in obtain-
ing payments from the VA—even though he ‘‘enjoyed an unusually 
close relationship with her office’’—because ‘‘she treated her hus-
band as any other constituent,’’ and did not ‘‘engage in favoritism 
when performing casework’’ for him.57 Likewise, In the Matter of 
Representative Newt Gingrich, the Committee found that Rep-
resentative Gingrich did not violate Section 5, clause 1, when he 
intervened with federal agencies to assist a constituent campaign 
donor because it found no evidence ‘‘that Representative Gingrich 
dispensed special favors to [the donor] that were withheld from 
others.’’ 58 In both of these matters, the Member had a financial in-
terest in assisting a particular constituent, but the Committee 
found no violation of Section 5, clause 1, because the constituent 
was treated like all others. 

Here, unlike in Berkley and Gingrich, there is substantial evi-
dence that Representative Gingrey treated Bank of Ellijay and its 
representatives differently than other non-constituents based on 
his financial investment in the bank and position on the board of 
directors. Specifically, the evidence indicates that Representative 
Gingrey provided special treatment to Bank of Ellijay and its rep-
resentatives by (1) arranging meetings between the representatives 
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59 See Ethics Manual at 310 (referring to ‘‘non-constituents’’ as ‘‘individuals who live outside 
the [Member’s] district’’). 

60 Representative Gingrey’s counsel has stated that the board of directors for the Bank of 
Ellijay asked, during a board meeting that Representative Gingrey attended, ‘‘whether commu-
nity banks were going to be eligible to apply for TARP funding and what financial metrics were 
going to be applied in making that determination.’’ Counsel also noted that ‘‘several of those 
board members were current constituents of Congressman Gingrey’s at the time of that inquiry.’’ 
Mar. 5, 2014 Submission at 2. 

61 According to Representative Gingrey’s counsel, the board’s request related to whether com-
munity banks would be eligible for TARP funding. See id. However, the bank’s CFO and Chair-
man requested the meetings with Members of Congress to persuade them to make TARP funds 
available to community banks—which would include Bank of Ellijay. Thus, the nature and pur-
pose of the CFO and Chairman’s meeting request was qualitatively different than the board of 
director’s questions to Representative Gingrey concerning the TARP program. 

62 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
63 The board of directors of Bank of Ellijay had thirteen members, including Representative 

Gingrey, but Representative Gingrey cannot consider himself the ‘‘constituent’’ who requested 
the Washington, D.C. meetings. 

64 Representative Gingrey stated that a former President and CEO of Bank of Ellijay may 
have asked him to arrange the meetings, during a meeting with the CFO and Chairman, and 
Representative Gingrey’s counsel has suggested that the former President and CEO was a resi-
dent of Representative Gingrey’s district. See Feb. 12, 2014 Submission at 6 & n.21. However, 
Representative Gingrey’s testimony about a conversation that included the former President and 
CEO contradicts his statement that he did not recall any such conversations before receiving 
the CFO’s emailed request. Further, Representative Gingrey’s testimony suggested that he was 
merely speculating that a conversation with the former President and CEO, the CFO, and the 
Chairman prompted the CFO’s email request. Representative Gingrey was asked: ‘‘Do you know 
if that happened or is that what you think might have happened?’’ He replied: ‘‘That’s what I 
think might have happened.’’ Finally, even if the former President and CEO did live in Rep-
resentative Gingrey’s district, the evidence indicates that he left Bank of Ellijay by mid–2008, 
and it is thus unlikely that he asked Representative Gingrey to arrange meetings for the bank 
in January 2009. 

and Representative Frank’s Counsel, Representative Bachus, and 
high-ranking Treasury Department officials; and (2) attending the 
meeting between the Bank of Ellijay representatives and either 
Representative Frank’s Counsel or Representative Bachus. 

In reaching this conclusion, it is significant that neither Bank of 
Ellijay nor any of the bank’s representatives who requested or at-
tended the meetings were residents of Representative Gingrey’s 
district, and therefore were not his ‘‘constituents.’’ 59 Representative 
Gingrey has not denied this fact, but his counsel has suggested 
other individuals—including two persons who recruited him to 
serve on the bank’s board in 2006 and other members of the bank’s 
board of directors—were his constituents.60 With respect to the 
constituents who asked Representative Gingrey to serve on the 
bank’s board, there is no connection between their request that 
Representative Gingrey sit on the board of Bank of Ellijay and 
Representative Gingrey’s efforts, three years later, to arrange 
meetings for the bank’s representatives. Likewise, there is no evi-
dence that the bank’s board as a whole—which did include con-
stituents—asked Representative Gingrey to facilitate the Wash-
ington, D.C., meetings.61 Indeed, Representative Gingrey himself 
stated that he did not recall any discussions before he received the 
CFO’s email requesting meetings with Members of Congress about 
the possibility Bank of Ellijay representatives would come to Wash-
ington.62 Further, the fact that three of the board’s twelve mem-
bers were Representative Gingrey’s constituents 63 does not make 
the bank a constituent, and is irrelevant given that none of the 
constituent board members asked Representative Gingrey to ar-
range meetings for the bank in Washington, D.C.64 

Thus, despite Representative Gingrey’s conflicting explanations, 
all of the evidence indicates that the Washington, D.C. meetings 
were requested by non-constituents, and there is no evidence that 
any of Representative Gingrey’s constituents, including the Bank of 
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65 Ethics Manual at 310 (emphasis in original). 
66 Id. This guidance was included in the 1992 version of the House Ethics Manual and appears 

verbatim in the current 2008 version. 
67 Moreover, even if Representative Gingrey had ‘‘personal knowledge’’ related to the bank’s 

TARP application, it was likely based on his own position on the bank’s board of directors and 
his financial investment in the bank. If Representative Gingrey took official actions on the 
bank’s behalf because of his position and financial interest in the bank, that cannot be a defense 
to the charge of dispensing special favors to the bank. 

68 See Waters at 6–7. 
69 Id. at 228. 

Ellijay’s board of directors, asked for those meetings. As the Ethics 
Manual explains: 

The statute that establishes the Members’ Representa-
tional Allowance provides that the purpose of the allow-
ance is ‘‘to support the conduct of the official and represen-
tational duties of a Member of the House of Representa-
tives with respect to the district from which the 
Member is elected.’’ 65 

The Ethics Manual includes limited exceptions to this rule—such 
as where the non-constituent’s matter is ‘‘similar to those facing 
constituents,’’ or the Member ‘‘serve[s] on a House committee that 
has the expertise and ability to provide the requested help,’’ or ‘‘has 
personal knowledge regarding a matter’’ and ‘‘communicate[s] that 
knowledge to agency officials.’’ Outside of those exceptions, ‘‘a 
Member should not devote official resources to casework for indi-
viduals who live outside the district.’’ 66 

None of the specific exceptions to this rule appears applicable 
here: Representative Gingrey did not serve on any banking-related 
committees, and he has not asserted that banks in his district ap-
plied for TARP funds, or explained how any such applications 
would relate to Bank of Ellijay’s application. Further, to the extent 
Representative Gingrey had any knowledge of Bank of Ellijay’s 
TARP application, he has never asserted that he communicated 
that knowledge to the Member, staff, or Treasury Department offi-
cials the bank’s representatives met with.67 

Representative Gingrey’s counsel has noted that in Waters, the 
Committee found no violation of Section 5, even though Represent-
ative Waters arranged for a non-constituent entity to meet with of-
ficials of the Treasury Department. However, Waters is distinguish-
able in at least three respects. First, the Committee found that 
Representative Waters believed the meeting was for the National 
Bankers Association, a national trade association of minority and 
women owned banks.68 The Committee further adopted the report 
of the outside counsel in Waters, which noted that ‘‘the evidence 
demonstrates that [minority banks], including OneUnited, serve 
Representative Waters’ district,’’ and ‘‘[t]hus, her constituents have 
an interest in [minority banks].’’ 69 Thus, even if the Treasury De-
partment meeting ultimately focused on a single bank that Rep-
resentative Waters had a financial interest in—OneUnited Bank— 
Representative Waters did not know that would be the case when 
she arranged the meeting. Moreover, as noted above, when Rep-
resentative Waters later determined OneUnited was pursuing ac-
tion that would affect it uniquely, she properly recused herself from 
issues that would affect a single bank in which she had a financial 
interest, and provided clear instruction to her staff to refrain from 
working on those issues. Here, Representative Gingrey knew that 
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70 Id. at 173. 
71 Id. at 167–68. 
72 Ethics Manual at 309–10. Of course, this ‘‘exception’’ applies only to the general question 

of whether Representative Waters could have properly assisted a non-constituent entity; it 
would not permit her to assist such an entity where she had a financial interest in the entity. 

the only attendees to the meetings he arranged would be from a 
single bank that he had a financial interest in, and that those 
attendees would be representing their bank. Second, contrary to 
the suggestion of Representative Gingrey’s counsel, OneUnited 
Bank was a constituent entity of Representative Waters. Although 
it was headquartered in Massachusetts, the bank had a branch in 
Representative Waters’ district.70 In contrast, Representative 
Gingrey stated that Bank of Ellijay never had a branch in his dis-
trict. Finally, Representative Waters was ‘‘the most senior African- 
American Member of the Financial Services Committee and . . . 
the Ranking Member of the Subcommittee on Capital Markets and 
Government Sponsored Enterprises.’’ 71 The Treasury Department 
meeting she arranged focused on the impact of the devaluation of 
shares of two Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs)—Fannie 
Mae and Freddie Mac—on minority banks that owned shares of the 
GSEs. OneUnited was one such bank. Thus, even if Representative 
Waters had arranged the Treasury Department meeting for a non- 
constituent bank, that would have been a circumstance where the 
Committee’s guidance expressly permitted non-constituent service, 
i.e., where ‘‘the Member . . . serve[s] on a House committee that 
has the expertise and ability to provide the requested help.’’ 72 

The inference that Representative Gingrey provided ‘‘special fa-
vors or privileges’’ by assisting non-constituents associated with 
Bank of Ellijay is further supported by Representative Gingrey’s 
own congressional Web site. The Web site—both at the time of the 
Bank of Ellijay meetings and currently—states ‘‘Regrettably, I am 
unable to reply to any email from constituents outside of the 11th 
District of Georgia.’’ This statement appropriately reflects the guid-
ance from this Committee and the Committee on House Adminis-
tration regarding the proper response to requests for assistance 
from non-constituents. It further reflects an apparent policy of Rep-
resentative Gingrey’s office not to respond to non-constituents, at 
least on the official web site. 

Representative Gingrey told the Committee that he has arranged 
meetings with Members for non-constituents on prior occasions. 
However, in both of the instances Representative Gingrey recalled, 
the non-constituent appeared to have some personal connection 
with Representative Gingrey. If a Member only assists non-con-
stituents who are personal friends, that would seem to support, 
rather than rebut, the inference of special treatment. 

Of course, the beneficiary of Representative Gingrey’s official ac-
tions here was not merely a non-constituent, it was a non-con-
stituent bank in which Representative Gingrey had invested 
$250,000. In light of this financial interest, Representative 
Gingrey’s response to the email from Bank of Ellijay’s CFO—a non- 
constituent—is particularly troubling. Representative Gingrey ap-
pears to have immediately discussed the CFO’s request with his 
Chief of Staff, who, using his personal relationship with the then- 
Treasurer of the United States, immediately forwarded the request 
to the Treasury Department. Further, Representative Gingrey per-
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73 Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative Mario Biaggi, H. 
Rept. 100–506, 100th Cong. 2d. Sess. 9 (1988). 

74 Berkley at 55. 

sonally spoke with Representative Bachus, who was at the time the 
Ranking Member of the House Financial Services Committee about 
the request, and then had his staff arrange meetings with both 
Representative Bachus and Representative Frank’s Counsel. Rep-
resentative Gingrey attended one of these meetings in person. The 
House Financial Services Committee authored the bill establishing 
TARP and oversaw its implementation. 

Thus, the totality of the evidence indicates that Representative 
Gingrey dispensed special favors or benefits to Bank of Ellijay and 
its representative, contrary to Section 5, clause 1 of the Code of 
Ethics. Further, even if Representative Gingrey complied with the 
letter of that clause—which the evidence does not support—his ac-
tions were contrary to the spirit of the ‘‘special favors’’ rule, and did 
not reflect creditably on the House of Representatives. 

2. Section 5, clause 2 
Section 5 of the Code of Ethics also prohibits a Member from 

‘‘accept[ing] for himself or his family, favors or benefits under cir-
cumstances which might be construed by reasonable persons as in-
fluencing the performance of his governmental duties.’’ The Com-
mittee has addressed alleged violations of this provision on several 
occasions, and has found such violations, or evidence of them, even 
in the absence of a quid pro quo between a benefit to a Member 
and official actions that would establish a violation of House Rule 
XXIII, clause 3 (discussed above). Thus, In the Matter of Represent-
ative Mario Biaggi, the Committee found a violation of the ‘‘favors 
or benefits’’ clause of Section 5 even though it could not determine 
whether the Member would have taken the official actions at issue 
absent the benefits the Member received. As the Committee ex-
plained, ‘‘[w]hile the Committee does not argue, nor can it be deter-
mined, that Representative Biaggi would not have interceded [with 
federal officials] in the absence or because of [the] gratuities to the 
congressman, it is nevertheless clear that at a minimum, an ap-
pearance is raised that such was the case. Accordingly, the Com-
mittee concluded that such improper appearance supported a deter-
mination that Representative Biaggi violated Clause 5 of the Code 
of Ethics for Government Service.’’ 73 

Likewise, in Berkley, the Investigative Subcommittee (Berkley 
ISC) credited Representative Berkley’s assertion that when her 
staff asked executive agencies for ‘‘status updates’’ regarding pay-
ment claims filed by her husband’s medical practice, and asked the 
agencies to speed up their evaluation of those claims, she was not 
motivated by her husband’s financial interests. However, the Berk-
ley ISC explained that ‘‘the Committee has consistently prohibited 
acting on matters in which a Member has a financial interest pre-
cisely because the public would construe such action as self-deal-
ing, whether the Member engaged in the action for that reason or 
not.’’ 74 As the Berkley ISC explained: 

If Representative Berkley had simply and solely engaged 
in policymaking aimed at more efficient claims processing 
by the VA, even though it would have benefited her hus-
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75 Id. at 56. 
76 Boner at 28. As noted previously, the Committee itself did not reach any final conclusions 

regarding Representative Boner’s conduct, as Representative Boner resigned from the House be-
fore the Committee’s investigation was complete. However, in light of the unique circumstances 
of that matter, the Committee voted to release as a Committee print a staff report which ad-
dressed a number of allegations under review. 

77 Id. 
78 Id. at 29. 
79 Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of a Complaint Against Representa-

tive Robert L.F. Sikes, H. Rept. 94–1364, 94th Cong. 2d. Sess. 21 (1976) (hereinafter Sikes). 
80 See id. 
81 Representative Gingrey explained: ‘‘I was a physician by profession, but, you know, and I 

sought advice about, you know, investing in a community bank, and all of the advice I got was 
it’s a can’t lose situation, you know. It’s slow, but it’s steady, and at the end of the day, if you’re 
patient, you know, it’s almost a no-brainer.’’ See 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. It 
bears emphasis that Representative Gingrey did not violate any law, rule, or other standard of 
conduct merely by making an investment in Bank of Ellijay. As noted above, in addition to the 
Committee’s investigation, OCE reviewed whether his purchase of stock warrants was imper-
missible, and recommended that the Committee dismiss that allegation. Following its inde-
pendent review of the matter, the Committee dismissed that specific allegation, but continued 
its investigation of other issues. 

band along with a number of other doctors, she would not 
have violated [Section 5]. If she had assisted any other 
medical practice in her district with the issue, that also 
would have been proper. But she was barred from doing so 
for her husband, in part because reasonable people would 
construe the benefit she received as her motivation, wheth-
er it was or not.75 

In Boner, the Committee staff report concluded that Representa-
tive Boner’s official actions on behalf of a constituent he had finan-
cial dealings with consisted solely of ‘‘arranging meetings and re-
questing status reports,’’ and that ‘‘Representative Boner and his 
staff did not attempt to influence the outcome of the VA’s decision’’ 
regarding the constituent’s contract bid.76 The staff thus concluded 
that there was ‘‘no impropriety’’ in Representative Boner’s actions 
that would establish a violation of House rule XXIII, clause 3.77 
However, the staff believed that, ‘‘by taking the official action of in-
tervening with a government agency on behalf of someone with 
whom he was involved in numerous business ventures and by 
whom his wife was employed,’’ Representative Boner’s actions 
‘‘raise a question of whether he violated [Section 5 of the Code of 
Ethics] by accepting a benefit under circumstances which might be 
construed by reasonable persons as having influenced the perform-
ance of his governmental duties.’’ 78 

Finally, in a matter involving Representative Robert Sikes, the 
Committee found that Representative Sikes did not violate House 
rule XXIII, clause 3, by ‘‘purchasing 2,500 shares of [a] Bank’s pri-
vately held stock following the active and continuing involvement 
on his part’’ in obtaining federal authorization for placing the bank 
at a Naval air station.79 However, the Committee did conclude that 
Representative Sikes violated Section 5 of the Code of Ethics by ac-
cepting the ‘‘benefit’’ of the opportunity to purchase shares of the 
bank’s stock while he was intervening with federal officials on the 
bank’s behalf.80 

In this case, Representative Gingrey received a benefit from 
Bank of Ellijay: the opportunity to invest in the bank, an invest-
ment Representative Gingrey made based on advice that it was ‘‘a 
can’t lose situation’’ and ‘‘almost a no-brainer.’’ 81 He subsequently 
took official actions to assist Bank of Ellijay, namely arranging for 
Bank of Ellijay representatives to meet with Representative 
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82 Ethics Manual at 309. 
83 When asked whether he thought Representative Bachus would have wanted to know that 

Representative Gingrey had invested in Bank of Ellijay, Representative Gingrey stated: ‘‘Any 
time I’m—people come to me, come to us, we Members every day lobbying on behalf of some-
thing, and you want to—you want to have full disclosure and transparency and 
understand[ing].’’ 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 

84 Ethics Manual at 314. 

Frank’s Counsel, Representative Bachus, and high-level Treasury 
Department officials responsible for managing the TARP program. 
The bank’s representatives used these meetings to advocate for 
TARP funding for community banks generally and to inquire about 
the status and prospects for the bank’s own TARP application. As 
in the prior matters discussed above, it is not possible to establish 
that Representative Gingrey arranged the meetings for Bank of 
Ellijay because of his financial investment in the bank. However, 
Section 5 of the Code of Ethics does not require proof of a quid pro 
quo. The only question is whether ‘‘reasonable persons’’ ‘‘might con-
strue’’ Representative Gingrey’s opportunity to invest in Bank of 
Ellijay ‘‘as influencing the performance of his governmental duties.’’ 
More generally, the Committee has cautioned that where an indi-
vidual who has requested intercession with an executive agency 
‘‘has contributed . . . [to] causes in which [the Member] has a fi-
nancial . . . interest,’’ the Member ‘‘must be mindful of the appear-
ance that may be created and take special care to try to prevent 
harm to the public’s trust . . .’’ 82 

Thus, several factors suggest that Representative Gingrey’s ac-
tions violated the ‘‘favors or benefits’’ provision of Section 5. First 
and foremost, Representative Gingrey invested $250,000 in Bank of 
Ellijay, and thus had a significant interest in the bank’s receipt of 
TARP funding. Second, at least with respect to Representative 
Frank’s Counsel and the Treasury Department, it does not appear 
that Representative Gingrey disclosed his financial stake in Bank 
of Ellijay prior to arranging meetings with them. While such disclo-
sure would not have fully avoided any appearance of impropriety, 
the absence of such disclosure raises questions about why Rep-
resentative Gingrey was not fully transparent in his actions on be-
half of Bank of Ellijay, particularly given his professed belief in full 
transparency when dealing with casework requests.83 Third, he has 
provided no explanation for why he assisted the bank and its rep-
resentatives in this matter, even though they did not reside in his 
district. Fourth, while neither Representative Gingrey nor the 
Bank of Ellijay representatives specifically advocated for TARP 
funding for the bank in the congressional or Treasury Department 
meetings, they did assert the need to disburse TARP funds to com-
munity banks generally. That message, which was presented by 
representatives of a single bank and accompanied by specific ques-
tions about the status of the bank’s own TARP application, and the 
prospects for its approval, could reasonably be construed as advo-
cacy for the bank’s receipt of TARP funds, even if the bank’s rep-
resentatives did not intend to connect those issues. Finally, this 
was not a situation where Representative Gingrey stood ‘‘to derive 
some incidental benefit along with others in the same class,’’ as 
where a Member is a farmer but advocates for farmers nation-
wide.84 Rather, Representative Gingrey’s actions were more akin to 
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85 Id. 
86 Berkley at 55. 

those that ‘‘would serve [the Member’s] own narrow, financial in-
terests as distinct from those of their constituents.’’ 85 

It is true that Representative Gingrey told his Chief of Staff to 
do no more for Bank of Ellijay than for any other constituent, and 
Representative Gingrey’s office appears to have merely arranged 
meetings for the bank. But those meetings were of obvious impor-
tance to the bank, and thus to Representative Gingrey. Further, as 
the Berkley ISC explained: 

In this case the ISC finds, based on the totality of the 
evidence, that Representative Berkley and her staff saw 
their intercessions as a natural form of constituent service 
to an important and beneficial constituent within their dis-
trict. It does not matter that she treated her husband [Dr. 
Lehrner] as any other constituent. Relevant rules, Com-
mittee guidance and precedent require that Members re-
frain from acting in a manner which would benefit the 
Member’s narrow financial interest, regardless as to 
whether the action is ordinary or extraordinary relative to 
the office’s day-to-day activities. Accordingly, just because 
Dr. Lehrner was treated similarly to other providers, it is 
not necessarily the case that Representative Berkley 
should have treated him similarly, given clause 2 of Sec-
tion 5.86 

Thus, with respect to the ‘‘favors or benefits’’ clause of Section 5, 
the issue is not that Representative Gingrey treated Bank of 
Ellijay’s request for assistance differently than those of any other 
petitioner—although it appears he did so merely by responding to 
a non-constituent’s request. Rather, the problem is that Represent-
ative Gingrey did not recognize that the public might, and reason-
ably could, view his response to the request as motivated by his 
substantial financial investment in the bank. 

E. HOUSE RULE XXIII, CLAUSES 1 AND 2 

Finally, even if Representative Gingrey did not violate the letter 
of either clause of Section 5 of the Code of Ethics, his actions impli-
cated clauses 1 and 2 of rule XXIII. Press reports have already 
raised questions regarding Representative Gingrey’s advocacy on 
behalf of the two Georgia banks he invested in, and the appearance 
issues involved in having his Chief of Staff ask the Chief of Staff’s 
mother-in-law to arrange a meeting with Treasury Department of-
ficials, without disclosing any conflict of interest, are plain. Fur-
ther, although Members are generally permitted to contact an exec-
utive branch agency on a constituent’s behalf, the Committee has 
cautioned Members to take extra care when doing so implicates 
their own financial interests. As the Ethics Manual explains: 

[C]ontacting an executive branch agency . . . entail[s] a 
degree of advocacy above and beyond that involved in vot-
ing, and thus a Member’s decision on whether to take any 
such action on a matter that may affect his or her personal 
financial interests requires added circumspection. . . . 
Whenever a Member is considering taking any such action 
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87 Ethics Manual at 237. 
88 Id. at 27. 
89 See Section IV.D. & n.54. 
90 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
91 Only in Waters did the size of the financial investment at issue compare to Representative 

Gingrey’s $250,000 investment in Bank of Ellijay. Representative Waters’ husband owned stock 
in OneUnited Bank valued at $350,000 at the time Representative Waters arranged for the Na-
tional Bankers Association to meet with Treasury Department officials. However, the Committee 
found that Representative Waters did not know she was actually arranging a meeting for rep-
resentatives of OneUnited Bank. When Representative Waters later determined OneUnited was 
pursuing legislative and/or executive branch actions that would affect it uniquely, she properly 
recused herself from issues that would affect a single bank in which she had a financial interest, 
and provided clear instruction to her staff to refrain from working on those issues. With respect 
to Representative Waters’ Chief of Staff, there was no evidence that he had any financial inter-
est in OneUnited Bank. 

on a matter that may affect his or her personal financial 
interests, the Member should first contact the Standards 
Committee for guidance.87 

In addition, the Committee ‘‘has cautioned all Members to avoid 
situations in which even an inference might be drawn suggesting 
improper action.’’ 88 Here, Representative Gingrey did not contact 
the Committee before arranging the meetings for Bank of Ellijay, 
in contrast to a prior instance when he had questions about ethical 
rules,89 even though he stated that he was aware of a conflict of 
interest with respect to the bank and the need to be ‘‘very, very 
careful.’’ 90 While a Member is not required to consult the Com-
mittee when considering taking actions the Member perceives as a 
‘‘close call’’ with respect to the House Rules, the failure to do so 
may be a factor the Committee considers when such actions are 
found to violate the rules. In this case, Representative Gingrey did 
not take appropriate steps to avoid a situation which could easily 
be misconstrued. To the extent he ignored the Committee’s pre-
vious guidance, and his actions did not reflect creditably on the 
House, Representative Gingrey violated House Rule XXIII, clause 
1. Further, even if Representative Gingrey followed the letter of 
Section 5 of the Code of Ethics—which does not appear to be the 
case—his actions were not consistent with the spirit of that provi-
sion, and thus were not consistent with House Rule XXIII, clause 
2. 

F. REPRESENTATIVE GINGREY’S LEGAL ARGUMENTS 

Representative Gingrey has asserted that, under the Committee’s 
precedents, he did not violate the Code of Ethics by merely arrang-
ing meetings for representatives of Bank of Ellijay, where they 
could advocate for the disbursement of TARP funds to community 
banks generally and inquire about the status of the bank’s own 
TARP application. In the abstract, these actions raise a lesser ap-
pearance of impropriety than the actions at issue in matters such 
as Sikes, Berkley, or Waters. However, there are also troubling fac-
tors here that were not present in those other matters. Those in-
clude (1) the size of Representative Gingrey’s investment in Bank 
of Ellijay; 91 (2) the fact that the beneficiaries of Representative 
Gingrey’s actions were not his constituents; (3) Representative 
Gingrey’s awareness of a conflict of interest and the risks involved 
in arranging the meetings; and (4) Representative Gingrey’s under-
standing that the bank’s representatives would be presenting a 
dual message, which included both an appeal for TARP funds for 
community banks generally and questions about the status of the 
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92 See Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative Newt Gingrich, 
H. Rep. 105–1, 105th Cong., 1st Sess. 92 (1997) (where the Committee concluded a Member ‘‘was 
reckless in not taking care that, as a Member of Congress, he made sure that his conduct con-
formed with the law in an area where he had ample warning that his intended course of conduct 
was fraught with legal peril,’’ that conduct ‘‘was improper, did not reflect creditably on the 
House, and was deserving of sanction.’’) (Emphasis added). 

93 For example, the February 12, 2014, Submission compared the present matter to the Berk-
ley matter, and states ‘‘[i]f individualized casework activities on behalf of a single medical prac-
tice and a single university medical program do not rise to the level of special favors or privi-
leges under Section 5, then the Committee cannot possibly believe that the organization of three 
information-gathering meetings for a group of constituents somehow violates Section 5’s ethical 
tenets.’’ Feb. 12, 2014 Submission at 18. As previously discussed, the purported ‘‘group of con-
stituents’’ provided their current and past home addresses during the investigation. None are, 
or have ever been, residents of Representative Gingrey’s district. 

94 See, e.g., Graves at 19–20 (‘‘To establish a violation under section 5 of the Code of Ethics 
in connection with inviting a witness to testify before a committee hearing requires a showing 
that a Member improperly used his or her official position by making that invitation. It is not 
necessary for a Member to receive a benefit from a witness’s testimony to violate section 5 of 
the Code of Ethics.’’) 

95 18(a) Interview of Representative Gingrey. 
96 See id. Representative Gingrey’s counsel stated that ‘‘the Committee tends to find Section 

5 violations only in those matters where there is probative evidence of a tangible or financial 
benefit received by the Member or staffer, or where there is proof of a cognizable conflict of in-
terest (either personal or financial) motivating the actions of the Member or staffer.’’ Feb. 12, 
2014 Submission at 21. Again, these ‘‘requirements’’ do not square with the language of Section 
5. It is also notable that in Sikes, the Committee defined the relevant ‘‘benefit’’ accepted as the 
opportunity to purchase stock in a bank, not the opportunity to later sell it at a profit. See Sikes 
at 21. 

bank’s own pending TARP application, including questions about 
whether the bank satisfied the criteria for obtaining TARP funds 
at all. Given these facts, and Representative Gingrey’s failure to re-
quest guidance from the Committee regarding Bank of Ellijay’s re-
quest, despite his recognition of a conflict of interest,92 the Com-
mittee believes that Representative Gingrey did violate the Code of 
Ethics and House Rules, and that a public letter of reproval is ap-
propriate. 

As a threshold matter, the legal analysis submitted by Rep-
resentative Gingrey’s counsel never acknowledged or incorporated 
the fact of Representative Gingrey’s $250,000 investment in Bank 
of Ellijay. Further, the analysis appeared to be premised on the as-
sumption that Representative Gingrey was responding to a request 
from a constituent when he set up the meetings for Bank of Ellijay, 
an assumption the facts do not support.93 The February 12, 2014, 
Submission also repeatedly asserted that ‘‘Representative Gingrey 
had no financial interest in the outcome of [the] meetings.’’ Yet this 
is not the proper question.94 The first clause of Section 5 prohibits 
dispensing special favors ‘‘for renumeration or not,’’ meaning a fi-
nancial interest in the effect or recipient of the favor is not re-
quired. And the second clause of Section 5 applies where a Member 
has received a benefit—here the opportunity to make an invest-
ment in Bank of Ellijay that the Member was told was a ‘‘can’t 
miss’’ opportunity 95—that ‘‘might be construed by reasonable per-
sons’’ as influencing their official actions. Thus, with respect to the 
second clause of Section 5, the question is not whether Representa-
tive Gingrey could have benefitted financially from the meetings he 
arranged, but whether a reasonable person might believe that he 
arranged the meetings because he had a $250,000 investment in 
Bank of Ellijay. Given Representative Gingrey’s admission that he 
and his Chief of Staff ‘‘generally were aware of a conflict of inter-
est’’ with respect to the bank’s request, a reasonable person might 
also infer the same conflict.96 
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97 See Feb. 12, 2014 Submission at 2. 
98 Id. at 5. 
99 Id. 
100 Even with respect to the individual matters in which these factors have been considered, 

counsel overstated their importance. For example, counsel cited the Committee’s report regard-
ing Representative St. Germain for the proposition that the Committee can only find a violation 
of the ‘‘favors or benefits’’ clause of Section 5 where there is ‘‘direct evidence’’ of improper mo-
tive, yet the Committee’s report in that matter focused on an alleged violation of the Code of 
Official Conduct—House Rule XXIII, clause 3—not Section 5 of the Code of Ethics. See Comm. 
on Standards of Official Conduct, Investigation of Financial Transactions Participated in and 
Gifts of Transportation Accepted By Representative Fernand J. St. Germain, H. Rept. 100–46, 
100th Cong. 1st Sess. 2, 42–43 (1987). 

101 See supra at 18 & nn. 74, 75 (discussing lack of evidence of improper motive in Berkley). 

Nonetheless, the Committee has considered each of the prece-
dents cited by Representative Gingrey’s counsel. With respect to 
the Code of Ethics’ prohibition on ‘‘dispensing of special favors or 
privileges to anyone,’’ Representative Gingrey’s counsel first as-
serted that the Committee ‘‘has made clear . . . that standard ad-
ministrative contacts for or on behalf of constituents and other 
similarly-situated third parties are by no means contrary to the 
language or spirit of Section 5.’’ 97 However, the Committee has 
never approved of such contacts where the Member has a substan-
tial financial interest in the subject matter, and the Committee has 
expressly distinguished between a Member’s appropriate role as a 
‘‘go-between’’ for constituents seeking Executive agency actions and 
such official actions for non-constituents. 

Regarding the second clause of Section 5 of the Code of Ethics, 
Representative Gingrey’s counsel made a number of overly broad 
assertions regarding the Committee’s precedents. First, counsel as-
serted that the Committee always considers three factors in ana-
lyzing Section 5, clause 2 allegations: ‘‘(1) the nature of the benefit 
provided; (2) the people or entities that could benefit from the offi-
cial action; and (3) the Member’s or staffer’s motive in taking the 
action.’’ 98 With respect to motive, counsel stated that the Com-
mittee ‘‘typically asks whether there is ‘direct evidence’ [of] . . . 
‘improper motive’.’’ 99 However, counsel merely identified some of 
the factors the Committee has considered in discrete cases; the 
Committee has never indicated that all of these factors must be es-
tablished to find a violation of Section 5, clause 2 of the Code of 
Ethics.100 Further, it would be illogical to require direct evidence 
of an improper motive with respect to a standard of conduct that 
turns on whether actions ‘‘might be construed by reasonable per-
sons’’ as improper.101 The question in such instances is what rea-
sonable persons might infer, not what they can definitively prove. 

Representative Gingrey’s counsel has also asserted that the 
House Rules regarding conflicts of interest are too unclear to sup-
port the Committee’s findings and actions in this matter. Certainly, 
the Committee agrees, and acknowledged in Berkley, that the 
House Rules regarding conflicts of interest could be clearer. To that 
end, in keeping with the recommendation of the Berkley ISC, the 
Committee has formed a working group to consider the conflict of 
interest rules, and that working group will report to the Committee 
when it has concluded its work. However, it bears emphasis that 
the Berkley ISC recommended, and the Committee voted, to pub-
licly reprove Representative Berkley for violations of the House 
conflict of interest rules, as they were, rather than finding that the 
rules were too unclear to support finding such violations. The same 
is true here. The Committee’s precedents and public guidance dur-
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102 See Berkley at 10 (‘‘The ISC found that Representative Berkley mistakenly believed the 
rules governing what assistance her office could provide to her husband’s practice required only 
that they treat him in the same manner by which they treated any other constituent. This is 
incorrect.’’) 

ing the relevant period here (2009) made clear that a Member 
could not take actions on behalf of non-constituents where the 
Member had a financial interest in the issue the actions related to, 
even if those actions, if taken in different circumstances, might be 
permissible. Representative Gingrey himself acknowledged that he 
knew he was in a potentially difficult area, yet he did not ask the 
Committee for advice or assistance. Thus, the conflict of interest 
rules were not unclear or ambiguous with respect to Representative 
Gingrey’s conduct in 2009. 

Thus, the Committee determined that its prior precedents sup-
port a finding that Representative Gingrey violated the Code of 
Ethics and House Rules, and that he should be publicly reproved. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Having considered the totality of the circumstances surrounding 
Representative Gingrey’s official actions to arrange meetings for 
Bank of Ellijay representatives with House Members, staff, and 
Treasury Department officials, as well as the Committee’s prece-
dents and guidance regarding such official actions, the Committee 
found that Representative Gingrey violated Section 5 of the Code 
of Ethics and that his actions did not reflect creditably on the 
House or comport with the spirit of the House Rules. In reaching 
this conclusion, the Committee acknowledged that Representative 
Gingrey took some care to limit the scope of his official actions on 
behalf of Bank of Ellijay. Further, the Committee credited Rep-
resentative Gingrey’s assertion that he believed his actions were 
consistent with House Rules. However, given Representative 
Gingrey’s substantial financial investment in Bank of Ellijay, and 
his significant interest in the bank’s application for TARP funding, 
he should have taken additional steps to ensure that his conduct 
was consistent with House Rules, including seeking guidance from 
the Committee, before taking official actions that he recognized 
could, and which actually did, create improper appearances.102 

For Representative Gingrey’s violations of House Rules, law, reg-
ulations, or other standards of conduct, the Committee has deter-
mined to publicly reprove him. Upon the issuance of the Letter of 
Reproval and publication of this Report, the Committee will con-
sider this matter closed. 

VI. STATEMENT UNDER HOUSE RULE XIII, CLAUSE 3(C) 

The Committee made no special oversight findings in this Report. 
No budget statement is submitted. No funding is authorized by any 
measure in this Report. 
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